
 

  

By Larry Mullaly 

TheSouthern Oregon Historical Society began with a flourish of enthusiasm, suffered the  
typical teething problems of most new organizations, and in the 1950s emerged with  
one of the largest museum facilities in the state ï and a growing collection of artifacts.  

he role of the Oregon  
Historical Society in the early 
development of this organization 
is an important but relatively 
underappreciated part of this 
story. 
 
The prelude to these develop-
ments was the product of the Sons 
of the American Revolution 
(SAR), a non-political fraternity 
developed to promote patriotism 
and an appreciation of history.  
In the spring of 1945, Medford 
mayor Clarence Meeker, a 
member of Sons of the Revo-
lution (SAR), organized a June 
18th dinner at the Jacksonville 
Courthouse focusing on the 
need for a regional history 
museum preferably located in 
the restored Courthouse.  
Helping him were other SAR 
members, Daughters of the 
American Revolution, and the 
Southern Oregon Pioneer So-
ciety.  Attendees included Earl 
Snell, the governor of Oregon, 
mayors of Jacksonville and 
Medford, the editors of the Medford Mail Tribune and 
Grants Pass Courier, Jackson County Court officials,  
and more than 100 guests.   
 

 

When the Sons of the 
American Revolution  
gathered the following 
February for their annual 
meeting, Meeker renewed 
his pitch for a museum. 
His appeal was buttressed 
by two guests from Portland:  
recently elected Oregon 
Historical Society (OHS) 
president Omar C. Spencer, 
and OHS Superintendent 
and Oregon Historical 
Quarterly editor, Lancaster 
Pollard.  Both men endorsed 
the idea of a museum which 
they felt could be achieved 
by creating a regional branch 
chapter of the Oregon  
Historical Society.  
 
The OHS at this time was 
engaged in an energetic 
outreach effort to bolster its 
membership that in recent 
years had fallen as low as 
200.  For much of its history 
OHS had catered (as its 
official minutes would later 

acknowledge) ñlargely to scholars of historical research,ò 
but it was now making contacts with local history groups,  
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Historic Jackson County Courthouse @ 1885.   
Photo Source:  SOHS #863. 
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enlisting them as associate societies. Southern Oregon 
was particularly promising in this regard.   
 
Foundations had been well laid.  Two weeks prior to 
the February 22, 1946, meeting which Spencer and  
Pollard attended, a ñFirst Membership List of the Southern 
Oregon Historical Societyò already existed listing officers 
and board members of the future organization. The first 
two members listed were Lancaster Pollard and Clarence 
Meeker. Other names were strategically chosen and 
included Mrs. G.Q. [Marie]  
DôAlbini from the Medford  
Daughters of the American  
Revolution, Claire Hanley  
of the Pioneer Society, and  
other members drawn from  
the Sons of the American  
Revolution and the Pioneer  
Society.  At the SAR meeting  
that night, the chapter endorsed  
an invitation from Spencer  
and Pollard, on behalf of OHS,  
asking interested individuals  
to gather in Mayor Meekerôs  
Medford office on February 27,  
ñto establish a branch chapter  
of the Oregon Historical Society.ò   
 
Nine days later, those named on  
the First Membership List gathered  
in Meekerôs office.  It was there on  
February 27, 1946, that the  
ñSouthern Oregon Historical Societyò  
was born, with Clarence Meeker  
chosen as its first president.    
 
The group immediately set about organizing a tax 
measure for a new museum, but the effort was short-
lived. At its May 1946 meeting, Medford City Attorney 
Frank P. Farrell informed those present that such a vote 
required prior authorization from the state legislature.  
Meeker was then instructed by the SOHS directors to 
work with Farrell and draft such a measure to be passed 
on to the Oregon Historical Society for legal review 
and approval.  The product of this effort was introduced 
in a bill in the Senate and House in March by three 
Southern Oregon legislators.  It stipulated that any society 
in the state that sought to create a county history fund 
had to be ñaffiliated with and approved by the Oregon 
Historical Society.ò  

SOHS was now viewed by its members as one of five local 
Oregon history groups affiliated with the state historical 
society.  A March 7, 1948, Southern Oregon History Society 
press release prepared for the Medford Mail Tribune  
referred to the committee as the ñSouthern Oregon chapterò 
of the Oregon Historical Society. At a SOHS board meeting 
two days later, Pollard was once again present and spoke 
of ñthe accomplishments that he hoped could be realized 
by the [Oregon Historical] Society in this area.ò  
 
To encourage donations of historical items from the  
       community, however, draft incorporation papers  
       downplayed this relationship. ñIt is understood  
         and agreed that all material and property  
         collected and owned by this corporation shall  
          be held in Jacksonville, Oregon by it in  
           perpetual trust for the people of Southern  
           Oregon; but its control of the same shall be  
             at all times maintained and shall never be  
      taken away.ò  Although no mention was  
               made of the state  
               organization (the  
              document does not  
              appear to have been  
              filed with the state),  
             the society remained  
             linked to OHS. Even  
             simple matters such as  
            how to assess dues on  
            out-of-state members  
           were routinely referred  
            to Pollard for advice.  
            Following Clarence  
           Meekerôs unexpected  
          death on February 24,  

         1948, board members  
         voted ñto incorporate at   
         once as part of the  
Oregon Historical Association.ò  

 
With enabling legislation now in the books, the SOHS 
group announced on March 20th of that year that ña small 
tax would be put on the ballot of the upcoming election for 
the purpose of transforming the former county courthouse 
at Jacksonville into a southern Oregon museum.ò Although 
the levy was voted into law in November 1948, (it passed 
by a several hundred vote margin out of some 13,000 
votes cast), no regular meeting was held until May 10th of 
the following year.  At that meeting Pollard, spoke to the 
trustees of ñthe law and the legal aspect of the SOHS and 
the value of history as an asset to the community.ò  
 

Claire Hanley 
Photo Source: SOHS #05498 



   

Not everyone, however, was pleased with the OHS rela-
tionship. At the May 10, 1949, meeting, chaired for the first 
time by newly elected president Claire Hanley, long-time 
board member Judge J.B. Coleman expressed his distaste 
for affiliating ñwith any up-state organization.ò   Pollard 
replied by citing the good things the relationship had produced 
and considered it a model relationship.  He also promised 
that when the ñnew museum is ready,ò a number of artifacts, 
held by the Oregon Historical Society, would be turned 
over to the Southern Oregon Society.  At the end of meeting, 
the board approved a 
resolution ñthat the 
Society extend appre-
ciation and thanks to 
Mr. Lancaster Pollard 
for his presence at the 
meeting and for his 
assistance in matters 
pertaining to the estab-
lishment of the Society 
and the incorporation 
of the Society.ò 
 
Concerns, however, 
persisted.  At the June 
1949 meeting, board 
secretary Venita Daley 
introduced a resolution 
that quickly passed, 
asking for clarifications 
regarding ñthe legality 
of the position of the 
Southern Oregon  
Historical Society Inc.ôs 
affiliation financially, 
socially, and obligatory 
with the State Historical 
Society.ò  The result was 
an updated version of the 
Articles of Incorporation that made only a cursory reference 
to the state organization. ñThe objectéof this corporationé,ò 
it affirmed ñis to encourage and develop the study ofé
historyé in affiliation with state and local historical societies.ò  
But the document also stipulated ñthat all material and 
property collected and owned by this corporation shall be 
held in Jacksonville, Oregonéin perpetual trust for the 
people of Southern Oregoné.ò 
 
Little changed, however, in the working relationship of 
the two organizations.  At virtually the same time the  
Articles of Incorporation were submitted to the state,  
Pollard was promoting a shared fee arrangement whereby, 

in return for an even split of the $2.00 membership fee, 
SOHS members would be enrolled in OHS as affiliate 
members and be entitled to receive copies of its flagship 
publication the Oregon Historical Quarterly.  On June 
21, 1949, the board unanimously agreed to split the $2.00 
membership dues fee with OHS.  A check for $50 was 
immediately drafted with the understanding that all of 
SOHSôs 50 members would receive the June 1949 issue 
of the Quarterly.  About this same time OHS offered  
financial assistance to help the Southern Oregon society 

repair the historic 
Beekman Bank building 
in Jacksonville. 
 
For the next several years, 
ties between the two 
organizations remained 
close. Beginning in 1950 
SOHS sent a delegate 
to the annual meeting, 
and the Society President, 
Claire Hanley, served 
two terms on the OHS 
governing board. When 
a professional curator 
was needed to organize 
the new Jacksonville 
museum in 1950, Pollard 
deputized his museum 
director to serve in this 
capacity for three months 
in exchange for a nominal 
salary of $250 a month 
and travel expenses. 
The following year SOHS 
sent a panel of speakers 
to Pollardôs annual history 
symposium to deliver a 
presentation on promoting 

county historical districts.  In 1953 SOHS petitioned 
members of the Southern Oregon delegation to endorse a 
$65,000 request for the biennium to support ñthe valuable 
work in the collection of Oregon historical material and  
data.ò As promised, significant Southern Oregon artifacts 
were delivered.  Although OHS was precluded by law 
from giving them away, they offered them on a 
ñpermanent loanò basis. 
 
In April 1954, Lancaster Pollard resigned his leadership 
role to devote his time to teaching and research.  Two 
years later, when the OHS membership fee was raised a  
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SOHS President, Claire Hanley; Fred Meamber, President,  
Siskiyou County Museum; and Hal Ogle, President, Klamath 
County Museum; at Jacksonville Museum opening, 1950. 

Photo Source: SOHS #9742. 



 

Although continuing tax levies were later rolled into 
county tax bases, the founding of the Southern Oregon 
Historical Society played a key role in establishing a 
basis for government support of local societies.  It gave 
rise to the many historical societies that now share and 
preserve local and regional history, making a dramatic 
impact not only on southern Oregon, but across the  
entire state.  
 
Sources Cited: 
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Oregon Chapter of the Sons of the American Revolution, Feb. 22, 1942. 

Medford Mail Tribune, March 21, 1948.  

ñOHS Minutes of the Meeting of Oct. 25, 1952,ò Oregon  
Historical Quarterly, December 1952, p. 267.  

Oregon Revised Statutes Sec. II, Art XI, 358.200.  

Oregon Historical Quarterly, December 1946.  

SOHS minutes of March 10, 1948 and May 10, 1949.  

SOHS petition, March 10, 1953.  

 

[Note: Lancaster Pollard was also the first ñsuperintendentò of  
the Washing State Historical Society, responsible for its library, 
museum, and collections.]  

   

dollar, the SOHS board declined to increase its dues but 
made it optional for its members to pay extra to retain 
their affiliate relationship with the state organization. In 
subsequent years, both organizations grew exponentially, 
and collaborative efforts largely ceased. But what had 
been accomplished between 1945 and 1955 was 
groundbreaking for both organizations.  
 
In the early 1950s, many new county-based historical 
societies came into existence taking advantage of the 
SOHS/OHS county history fund legislation passed in 
1947. The relationship between county or local history 
organizations was also clarified in OHS policy describing 
the affiliate membership.  ñThe special intent of the 
state society,ò the OHS document affirms, ñis to assist 
wherever feasible the permanent development of specialized 
museums faithfully reflecting the varied and dramatic 
scenes and traditions comprising the great Oregon  
sceneé.  Each keeps it autonomy and manages its own 
affairs.ò As late as 1972, SOHS continued to be listed 
as an affiliated society of the Oregon Historical Society. 

(continued from page 3) 

Jacksonville Museum Opening, 1950.  Photo Source: SOHS #01990.  
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ñA 75th Anniversary Celebration!ò 
 
Seventy-five years of the Southern Oregon Histori-
cal Society, our Diamond Jubilee! It is a time to 
pause, step back, and reflect on who we are.  

OHS began with an intense conviction that if some-
thing was not done, the history of the Rogue Valley would be lost.  
Our founders viewed the past in very personal terms: the stories of 
pioneer fathers and mothers and their priceless keepsakes; wedding 
dresses, music boxes, tools, and childrenôs toys.  
 
With the help of our community, the Society has preserved this heritage. 
Our archives became a haven for priceless letters and diaries, the 
crumbling copies of old newspapers, heirloom photographs, and early 
newsreels.  We have rescued, organized and made available civic 
and commercial records, and the journals of no-longer-active fraternal 
and cultural organizations. 
 
Each generation of the Society has brought fresh perspectives to our 
sense of regional heritage. In the 1960s the Society was instrumental 
in preserving early Jacksonville buildings. Today we celebrate the 
lives and contributions of Native Americans, Chinese, Blacks and 
Latinos and the cultures of all people who live or have lived in 
southern Oregon. 
 
For 75 years we have been good partners with the southern Oregon 
community. We have participated in its parades, staged exhibits in malls 
and public buildings, and aided reporters and newscasters in telling 
their stories. We have made the record of the past available to  
whoever comes to us, and by the wonders of the internet, made  
these records searchable by anyone in the world.  
 
Together, we have kept history alive. Within two and a half years of 
the opening of the Jacksonville Museum in 1950, 100,000 visitors 
had passed through its halls. By the 1980s the society was publishing 
a professionally produced history magazine, and thousands of children 
were taking part in Childrenôs Heritage Days in Jacksonville and at 
SOHS Hanley Farm. Volunteer writers, tapping the resources of our 
collections, prepared over 5000 separate radio vignettes, and researchers 
have given over 250 original history presentations in our public libraries.  
Today we maintain a year-round program of popular history-related 
events for persons of all ages.  
 
For 75 years, with the support of our community, we have honored 
our roots, our values, and our stories.  Together, with you, we look  
to new and exciting horizons before us. 
 

           - Doug McGeary 
 
 

  



   

From to

A Hallmark in Medfordôs Progress! 

By George Kramer 

n the 1930s downtown Medford was the focal point for 

clothes shopping in the Rogue Valley.  Within a few blocks 
were the locally-owned Barkerôs Menôs Store, the Toggery, 
Mode OôDay and Mannôs Department Store.  The M&M 
Department Store shared the intersection of North Central 
and 6th with the J.C. Penney Company. 
 
Penneyôs, established in  
Kemmerer, Wyoming by  
James Cash Penney and two  
partners in 1902, was first  
known as ñThe Golden Rule.ò   
Penneyôs grew quickly, opening  
stores in towns throughout the  
west.  Penney bought out his  
partners and in 1913 the company,  
renamed J. C. Penney Stores,  
moved its headquarters to New  
York City and was listed on the  
New York Stock Exchange.  By  
1929 Penneyôs operated 1392 stores,  
nationwide.  There was a Penneyôs  
in almost any town of size. Ashland  
had a Penney store and so did  
Grants Pass.   
 
Medfordôs Penneyôs opened in  
1927, when the company purchased  
52 Golden Rule stores in the Pacific 
Northwest, including Medfordôs.   
Penneyôs quickly remodeled the Golden Rule  
building at North Central and Sixth streets, to reflect ñthe 
standard frontò cream and green ceramic tiles used by all  
Penney stores.  
 
As World War Two ended, and Medford and Jackson 
County population soared in the post-war period, J. C. 
Penney looked to upgrade its store to serve the growing 
community.  Downtown was still the shopping center of 
the region and Penneyôs purchased the building directly 
north, at the N.E. corner of North Central and Sixth.  The 
Groceteria, a long-time local market moved across to the 
west, into the former Johnsonôs (now the Southern Oregon 
Educational Services District).  In 1947, Penneyôs razed the 
market and announced plans for a spectacular new building.  
The new store of the latest design, was characterized by 

the Medford Mail Tribune as the ñCalifornia-style.ò To-
day weôd call it ñStreamline Moderne,ò a style character-
ized by smooth stucco walls, graceful curves and modern 
materials.   
              ñThe new ultra-modern store almost 
      three times larger than the old 
       Penney business establishment    
                       across the street.... It is  
             considered by Penney officials  
          as the most modernistic in  
          design and arrangement of the 
                      companyôs stores in Oregon.ò 

 
                        The designer of the new  
                       Penneyôs is unknown but  

       was probably a California 
         architect hired by the  
          corporation to develop  

          a ñmodelò store.  The  
       Donald  M. Drake  
      Company, of Portland, 
     was hired to construct the 
    project and work started  
              in October 1947.   
 
    The Grand Opening was  
             held Thursday August 5, 1948. 
               The Mail Tribune touted its  
             features.  ñ[The] new building 
           is completely modern inside 
          and out, with everything new 
            and designed for the  
convenience  of shoppersé.  Florescent lighting illuminates 
the store.  A pneumatic tube system will speed change and 
receipts to customers.ò 

 
The opening of the modernistic Penneyôs was a hallmark 
in Medfordôs post-war progress and downtown remained 
a bustling hub of business activity throughout the 1950s 
and into the early 1960s.  People from all over the region 
would drive to Medford to shop and the huge Penneyôs 
was certainly a major destination for back-to-school or 
professional clothes.  Purchases could be made via Lay-
Away, upstairs, as customers made regular payments until 
the item was paid.  Santa would appear in December,  
either in large front windows or the top of the wide,  



   

grand staircase to the mezzanine, and help mom and dad 
get ñMore Toys for Your Money!ò  
 
When the Medford viaduct was completed in 1972,  
Riverside and Central, through downtown, lost much of 
their traffic.  The Interstate routes north and south of the 
valley were completely opened in 1966.  With better 
transportation access, local shopping patterns changed.  
ñBack-To-Schoolò shopping meant an opportunity to visit 
the Valley River Mall in 
Eugene, or to head off to 
Portland or San Francisco 
for the weekend.   
 
Downtown shopping 
faced even greater com-
petition in 1986 when the 
Rogue Valley Mall 
opened.  Penneyôs closed 
its downtown location 
and became one of the 
ñanchorò stores in the 
new mall, leaving its 
modernistic building  
vacant, its future  
uncertain. 
 
About that same time 
SOHS, with offices and 
shops scattered over a 
handful of small houses, 
was looking to build a 
new museum and consoli-
date its operation.  Plans 

for a large facility in Jacksonville hit a snag and the idea 
of buying the vacant J. C. Penneyôs building created a 
chance to locate in Medford.  Penneyôs provided some 
support, and the Society purchased the building.  We-
Group Architects, of Eugene, designed the remodel and 
SOHS opened in 1988.  Renamed ñThe History Center,ò 
the lettering on the corner was modeled after the Penney 
Design and WeGroup won an award for their sensitive 
design.  

 
The ñultra-modernò design of 
Medfordôs  J.C. Penney 
building never caught on and 
there is no known example of 
the company ever building 
another in that style.  Maybe 
it was too expensive?  Maybe 
it was just too modern?  
But for thousands of southern 
Oregon families, it was 
ñtheò place to shop in 
downtown for four decades.    
 
George Kramer, of Ashland, 
is a historian of sorts with 
a special interest in old 
buildings.  He remembers 
buying a sports coat at 
Medfordôs ñJacques Penn®ò 
and is pleased to have been 
able to save the huge black 
and yellow steel ñPò from 
the rotunda from going to 
the smelter. 

Women on stairs of J.C. Penney building @ 1958.   
Photo Source: SOHS #14228. 

 
For a 75-year-old, SOHS is looking great!  And weôre inviting you to join us in celebrating  

this milestone all year long.  Here are a just a few of the upcoming events,  
so mark your calendars and save the dates! 

Saturday, August 14 
4pm to 7pm  

 

An Old-Fashioned  
Community BBQ  

at 
Pear Blossom Park  

 

Live music, face painting and 
SOHSôs 1946 Amphibious  

Fire Engine for the kids (and the 
young at heart) to climb on and  

operate the siren. 

Saturday, August 21  
1pm to 3 pm  

 

Family Concert &  
Ice Cream Social  

at 
SOHSôs Hanley Farm 

 

Music by Bob OôLooneyôs One-
Man Band plus face painting and 
SOHSôs 1946 Amphibious  
Fire Engine for kids and adults  
to climb on and explore.  

Saturday, September 11  
6pm 

 

A 75th Anniversary  
Celebration Dinner  

at 
Edenvale Winery and Vineyard  

 

Join Kingsley Kelley of KOBI-TV  
as he tries to focus an irreverent 
 panel of historian George Kramer, 
journalist Terri Martin, and JPRôs 
Geoffrey Riley on various history topics. 



   

 

acksonvilleôs first museum was 
actually a saloonðthe Table Rock  
Billiard Saloon.  Originally a bakery, 
it morphed into a saloon after the demise 
of its neighbor, the notorious El  
Dorado Saloon, in the fire of 1874.  The 
Table Rock brick building survived.   
 
Itôs not known when Table Rock  
co-owner and saloonkeeper Herman 
von Helms began collecting fossils 
and oddities but soon after the Table 
Rock reopened as a saloon, the local 
newspaper invited ñpersons possessing 
curiosities and specimensò to ñbring 
them inò where they would be placed 
in the ñCabinet of Curiosities for  
inspection.ò  In 1875, the saloon and 
ñCabinetò boasted a potato which 
weighed three pounds. 
 
Helmsô early newspaper advertise-
ments would invite people to visit 

his museum, then ñstay for his fine 
lager.ò  By 1879 the Roseburg  
Independent reported that Helmsô 
ñCabinet of Curiositiesò included 
stalactites from the Oregon Caves; 
freaks of nature such as four-legged 
chickens and two-headed turkeys; a 
mastodon tusk found in the Applegate; 
the ñhead and horns of a greater ox 
than the world is now acquainted 
with measuring 18 inches across the 
smaller part of the skullò; hundreds 
of geological specimens and 
ñpetrificationsò; a gold nugget valued 
at $700; a large collection of Indian 
relics including a bow and arrow 
used by Modoc Captain Jack; curious 
coins; and more.   
 
The newspaper declared the collection 
to be ñthe best in the stateô with many 
specimens which require study on 
the part of the naturalistðmany to 

puzzle the historianðand a great 
deal for the geologist to ponder over.ò   
 
When the saloon closed in 1914, the 
Helmsô ñCabinet of Curiositiesò  
collection of artifacts was valued at 
$50,000.  It encompassed ñevery 
possible manner of relicémutely 
telling pages in the early history of 
Jackson County.ò  Many of those 
relics became part of the core of the 
Southern Oregon Historical Societyôs 
initial collection.    
 
Even before the Table Rock Saloon 
closed, the Southern Oregon Pioneer 
Society considered establishing a 
museum.  At its September 1910 
meeting, the Society considered a 
proposition for a museum of pioneer 
relics.  Backed by the Native Daughters 
of Oregon, the proposal was ñto 
build a log cabin similar to the first 

by Carolyn Kingsnorth 
 

Long before the Southern Oregon Historical Society dreamed of creating a museum in the  
historic Jackson County Courthouse, Jacksonville boasted a series of history museums  

that served as local, even regional, tourist attractions.  

Herman von Helms in 
Table Rock Saloon. 
Photo Source:  
SOHS #320. 



    

one erected in Jacksonville in March 
1852, and to furnish it with a fireplace 
and the primitive furniture and relics 
of pioneer days.ò  It was noted that 
there was ñample material in the 
pioneer homes of Rogue River Valley 
to make the museum a most  
interesting feature.ò  
 
For years residents lamented the 
closing of the Table Rock, primarily 
for the loss of its ñCabinet of  
Curiosities,ò since 
Jacksonville never 
seemed to have  
a shortage of  
saloons.  When 
Paramount  
Pictures released 
ñThe Covered 
Wagonò in 
1923ðthe film 
industryôs first 
historical ñEpic 
Big Screen West-
ernòðit intensi-
fied local interest 
in ñold pioneer 
daysò since the 
silent movie  
depicted the  
settlement of  
Oregon.  ñThe 
Covered Wagonò 
became one of the 
most popular and 
critically acclaimed 
films of the first 
half of the 1920s, and a Jacksonville 
museum became more than wishful 
thinking.   
 
Inspired by the film and the upcoming 
Jacksonville reunion of the Pioneer 
Society of Southern Oregon, Mrs. 
Alice Applegate Sargent purchased 
the 1855 Brunner Building at the 
corner of Main and South Oregon 
streets with the goal of creating ña 
repository for pioneer relics.ò  The 
museum opened briefly for the  
Societyôs annual meeting in October 
1924, then had its formal opening 

February 27, 1925.  Open on Tuesdays 
and Fridays, local newspapers  
reported that it attracted so many 
visitors that Mrs. Sargent and her 
assistant were kept very busy! 
 
Soon after it opened, the one-room 
Jacksonville museum in the Brunner 
Building, operated by the Native 
Daughters of Jacksonville, was 
deemed inadequate.  More space 
was needed, and as early as 1928 

the Chamber of Commerce and City 
Council petitioned Jackson County 
for money to establish a museum 
in the U.S. Hotel on California 
Street.  The County ñtook it under 
advisement.ò Although the suggestion 
was sound enough, no one had any 
spare money lying around waiting 
to be spent on such non-essentials 
as a museum. 
 
In the 1930s, ña treasure house of 
junk and a handful of historical 
artifactsò was set up in what is now 
Jacksonvilleôs Bella Union Restaurant 

and Saloon.  The ñCabinet of Curios-
itiesò from the old Table Rock Saloon 
was added to the collection along 
with other items from ñhistorical 
minded folks.ò  Then local antique 
dealer Frank Zell stepped in.  He had 
both a valuable collection of his own 
and an eye for history.   
 
In the 1940s, when crowded exhibits 
in the Bella Union threatened to 
crash through the floor to the cellar 

below, Zell asked the 
City Council to move 
the museum to the U.S. 
Hotelða goal embraced 
by local folk for over 
10 years.  The Council 
approved the move; the 
collection was trans-
ferred to the U.S. Hotel; 
and the hotel became, for 
a time, the Jacksonville 
Museum.  Visitors 
sometimes contributed 
a quarter to the kitty, 
and Jacksonville, no 
longer the commercial 
and governmental hub 
of the region, acquired 
its first tourist attraction. 
 
In 1947, Grace Moody 
Hammaker Nobel  
became the caretaker 
of the Jacksonville  
Museum.  She had 
been a cook at Camp 

White and ñmotheredò a lot of the 
young service boys.  When the owner 
of the Jôville Tavern hired her, her 
ñCamp Whitersò followed her to 
Jacksonville.  But the museum was 
her dream job. 
 
Grace took her museum duties seriously.  
She made a detailed study of the  
history of the region and learned the 
backgrounds of many of the artifacts 
on display. She listened to visitors 
recite their family trees and encouraged 
them to continue their research.  She 

( , continued on page 19)  

Artifacts on display in Jacksonville Museum 
in U.S. Hotel.  Photo Source: SOHS #12137. 


